91105-3

Received
Washington State Supreme Court



DEC 17 2014

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

No.

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
ARTHUR WEST,
appellant,
Vs.
CHRISTINE GREGOIRE, GOVERNOR
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al, respondents

Arthur West 120 State Ave N.E. #1497 Olympia, Washington, 98501

A. **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Appellant Arthur West respectfully moves the Court for relief designated in Part B of this petition.

B. RELIEF REQUESTED

West respectfully requests review of the decisions of the Washington State Court of Appeals for Division II in Case No. 45812-8-II filed October 21, November 4, and November 18, 2014. The Washington State Supreme Court should accept review, and reverse the Division II published opinion and remand the case.

A copy of the decisions are appended as Appendix A.

c. SUMMARY & WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case involves the executive privilege exemption and over 300 pages of records silently withheld by the office of the Governor of the State of Washington that were not disclosed until eight (8) days before a dispositive hearing, after the date in the briefing schedule terminated plaintiff West's ability to file a brief concerning their withholding. This was an undeniable and per se unreasonable act of unlawful silent withholding.

Prior to the published opinion in this case, the very same division of the Court of Appeals, in Gronquist v. Department of Corrections, had established that a PRA plaintiff preserved issues by including them in a motion for a show cause order.

Yet somehow, in response to a situation where the state failed to produce responsive public records until after the date for plaintiff to briefing had expired, the Court of Appeals decided to establish a new standard at variance with Gronquist, requiring PRA plaintiffs to not only assert claims in a motion for show cause, but ritualistically and formally reassert them in responsive briefing.

Had the Court simply overturned Gronquist, and established a new rule of law, this would have been, in the plaintiff's opinion, a mere error of law. However, the Court went further; it applied this new standard retroactively to deprive plaintiff of his right to assert claims for silent withholding of records based upon his failure to properly assert, in pleadings, a claim for relief for records unlawfully and silently withheld until after his opportunity for filing pleadings had expired, just eight (8) days prior to the hearing. This was inequitable and denied the basic right to a fair hearing in a fair tribunal.

By establishing a new standard of law at variance with that reasonably relied upon by West, and applying it retroactively to deny him a cause of action relating to records disclosed only eight (8) days prior to the hearing, the Court of Appeals abridged not only the remedial intent of

the Public Records Act, but the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the 14th Amendment¹ to the Constitution of the United States.

Despite plaintiff arguing these issues at length in a motion to reconsider and objecting at the presentation of the Order as allowed under CR 37, the Court of Appeals found that West had "abandoned" issues that he had no reasonable opportunity to brief due to the misconduct of the State in silently withholding records until a week before the hearing, and after plaintiff's last brief had been filed.

Similarly, the Court of Appeals found no due process violation in retroactively applying the new "particularized need" standard that it adopted for records withheld under the PRA to bar West's claims, even though the standard was newly adopted and the retroactive application was inequitable and had the effect of barring a citizen from seeking disclosure of public records.

Complicating the matter still further, in West v. Gregoire (I), No. 42776-9-II (an unpublished case), West prevailed against the office of the Governor in a PRA action challenging the assertion of executive privilege, and a per diem penalty of \$25 was sustained.

I All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the state wherein they reside. No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Yet somehow, in West v. Gregoire (II), West was denied the opportunity to argue before the court, his case was sidetracked and another case advanced before it, where the issue was decided against him, and this case was remanded back to the Court of Appeals, which proceeded to stack up additional dubious abridgements of due process of law. The entirety of the circumstances of this case demonstrate how a simple and straightforward process can be transformed into a procedurl morass where technical requirements and circumlocuitous procedures entomb due process and the public's right to know just as effectively as censorship in a totalitarian regime such as the former Soviet Union.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the following grounds for review of appellate decisions:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by another division of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This case should be considered under prongs one, two, three and four of this rule. The issue of whether retroactive application of new rules of law in violation of the doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel to unfairly deprive a litigant of a cause of action is consistent with Due Process of law is an issue of substantial public importance that should be decided by the Supreme Court.

The Appeals Court ruling also conflicts with precedent effecting the express intent of the Public Records Act in a manner that should be corrected by the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court should accept review because the Appeals Court ruling below was inequitable and in conflict with all of this court's previous rulings liberally construing the remedial intent of the Public Records Act and narrowly construing exemptions to disclosure to those in statute.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Is it reasonable and consistent with res judicata, estoppel and due process of law for Division II of the Court of Appeals to rule in defiance of its own ruling in West v. Gregoire (I) where a penalty of \$25 per day was upheld for the wrongful withholding of records under claim of executive privilege?
- 2. Is it reasonable and consistent with due process of law for Division II of the Court of Appeals to overturn its own ruling in Gronquist to establish a new principle of law, and then employ it retroactively to bar assertion of a claim for silent withholding of records; where the records were withheld until just eight (8) days prior to the hearing and after the plaintiff's last brief had been filed?
- 3. Is it reasonable and consistent with due process of law for the division II of the Court of Appeals to establish a new principle of law as to demonstration of a need for public records withheld under claim of executive privilege and apply it retroactively to bar assertion of a claim for disclosure of records?
- 4. Does the Court of Appeals decision below conflict with prior U.S. Supreme Court rulings holding that retroactive application of a new rule of law is improper when it has inequitable effects?

- 5. Does the Appeals Court decision below conflict with prior Washington Supreme Court rulings holding that the Public Disclosure Act must be liberally interpreted and exemptions to disclosure narrowly construed?
- 6. Does a precedent establishing a new and improper standard of law for PRA actions and recognizing an executive privilege and applying these new standards inequitably in violation of the doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel to bar a citizen from seeking public records present a substantial issue of public importance?

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In West v. Gregoire (I), an unpublished case, West prevailed against the office of the Governor in a PRA action challenging the assertion of executive privilege, and a per diem penalty of \$25 was sustained.

Yet somehow, in this present case, West v. Gregoire (II), West was denied the opportunity to argue before this court, his case was sidetracked and another case (EFF v, Gregoire) advanced before it, where the issue was decided against him, and this case was then remanded back to the Court of Appeals.

Nearly five years ago, the public records request at issue here was hand-delivered by Mr. West to Governor Gregoire's office on January 19, 2010. CP 569. His request sought, "under RCW 42.56, for disclosure of all of the records currently being withheld from public disclosure by the office of the Governor under color [of] a claim of executive privilege, from 2007 to present, to include all 35 requested described in the [Evergreen Freedom Foundation] policy letter of January 13, [2010], (attached)." CP 569. The EFF policy highlighter that Mr. West attached to his request stated "Since 2007, Governor Gregoire's office has asserted 'executive privilege' 421 times in response to 35 records requests. This privilege has been cited to withhold records concerning

the state's tribal gambling compact, the sale and departure of the Seattle Sonics, the selection and appointment of judges, the state's regulation of marijuana, clemency petitions of death-row inmates, and state employees' public email accounts." CP 560.

On January 25, 2010 (less than five business days after Mr. West's request), Melynda Campbell of the Governor's office responded to Mr. West's request. CP 602. Her letter estimated that it would take her approximately three to four weeks to retrieve the public request files that had been archived and "review, number and provide any documents that may be released." CP 602. After this initial letter, Mr. West heard nothing more from the Governor's office for eight months.

This was not the first time that Mr. West attempted to challenge Governor Gregoire's assertion of executive privilege in response to a public records request. Mr. West had filed an earlier lawsuits West v. Gregoire (Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 10-2-00063-9), where he prevailed against the Governor on a claim of executive privilege and this was sustained on appeal. CP 632-36.

In this case, on September 24, 2010, Mr. West filed his complaint, alleging Public Records Act violations. CP 3-6. In his complaint, Mr. West alleged that the Governor "failed to promptly respond or disclose relevant records," and that the Governor "has wrongfully asserted an executive privilege exemption when none exists under the Public Disclosure Act and no colorable claim of any such exemption can be made under existing precedent for the records at issue, and has failed to produce the requested records in a reasonably timely manner." CP 5.

Among other relief, Mr. West sought declaratory rulings that the Governor failed to reasonably disclose public records and that an executive privilege exemption does not apply to the Public Records Act. Mr. West also requested that the Governor be required to disclose the records he sought, and requested an award of costs and per diem penalties under the Public Records Act. CP 6. Mr. West served the Governor's office with his summons and complaint on September 13, 2010, before he filed his lawsuit with the court. CP 566; CP 599.

On the morning of September 27, still not having heard from the Governor's office, Mr. West called the Governor's office to find out the status of his public records request. Over the phone, the Governor's office informed him that public records responsive to his request were available and ready to be picked up. On that same day, September 27, Mr. West visited the office. He paid \$71.10 (the copy fee mentioned in the September 27 letter). CP 601. He was given the September 27 letter (CP 13), an exemption log (CP 567; CP 575-95) and 474 pages of responsive records (CP 47-519).

Ms. Campbell also had ready a letter to Mr. West dated September 27 from Ms. Narda Pierce, General Counsel (CP 603-04), which stated "You have requested disclosure of specific pages of documents that were withheld in prior public records requests by other requesters. We have researched our records to determine whether any of these documents have been subsequently released. We determined that documents were released to the original requester subsequent to the initial response in the public records requests numbered 2007-27, 2009-44 and 2009-48. Therefore, those documents are currently available for your review." CP 603. Even though Ms. Campbell had Ms. Pierce's letter ready for

Mr. West, the letter was not given to Mr. West when he visited the office. Instead, Ms. Campbell mailed it to Mr. West on September 29. CP 606; CP 567. On October 19, 2010, the Governor, represented by counsel, filed her answer to Mr. West's complaint, admitting "Defendants admit that Christine Gregoire is the Governor of the State of Washington, that she is named in her official capacity, and that the Public Records Act applies to the Office of the Governor." CP 7-10; CP 8.

The exemption log that the Governor's office produced claimed privileges for 72 CP 575-595. records. Of these records, the Governor's office asserted "Executive Privilege" as the sole exemption claimed for 37 records, of which four are duplicates, for a total of 33 separate records. CP 575-595; CP 610. The other exemptions that the Governor's office asserted included RCW 42.56.250(2) (applications for public employment) (see CP 576-78; CP 582; CP 584; CP 589; CP 594-95); deliberative process or RCW 42.56.280 (see CP 579; CP 582; CP 590; CP 591-94); RCW 5.60.060(2) (attorney-client privilege) (see CP 583; 587-88; CP 590; CP 595); 42 USC 405(c)(2)(vii)(1) and/or 5 USC 552(a) (Social Security Number) (see CP 586); RCW 42.56.290 (agency party to controversy; work product) (see CP 593); and RCW 42.56.270 (financial, commercial and proprietary information) (see CP 594). There were 6 separate records where the Governor did not assert executive privilege at all, but claimed one or more exemptions to the Public Records Act (RCW 42.56.250(2), 42 USC 405(c)(2)(vii)(1) and/or 5 USC 552(a), RCW 42.56.270, and RCW 42.56.280). CP 584, 586, and 594. Presumably, the Governor had at one point asserted executive privilege as to these 6 records but had later waived executive privilege while asserting some other exemption, since otherwise they would not have been responsive to Mr. West's request.

The records disclosed in the exemption log were divided into two categories: "2008 Public Record Request documents" (CP 575) and "2007 Public Record Request documents" (CP 584). Recall that Mr. West's request sought documents which had previously been withheld from Public Record Act requestors under claim of executive privilege, from 2007 on, including those that were mentioned in the EFF policy document dated January 13, 2010. Either (1) there were no public records requests in 2009 or 2010 to the Governor's office from which she withheld records under claim of executive privilege, (2) if there were any such public records requests in 2009 or 2010, the Governor waived the formerly-asserted privilege and produced the previously-withheld documents to Mr. West on September 27; or (3) if there were any such public records requests in 2009 or 2010 and the Governor had not waived the formerly-asserted privilege and produced the previously-withheld documents to Mr. West, then the Governor's office did not disclose those still-withheld records in the exemption log.

On March 7, 2011, Mr. West filed a Motion for a Show Cause Order, seeking an order compelling the Governor to appear and show cause why she should not be "found to be in violation of the Public Records act for failing to produce records in a reasonable time, for failing to produce an exemption log citing to an actual exemption to disclosure recognized under RCW 42.56, and for failing to produce public records in response to plaintiff's request." CP 11-12. The Governor filed a Response, CP 1024-1045, and both sides filed declarations. On May 6, a hearing was held in front of the Honorable Gary R. Tabor, where the matter was

continued to June 17, 2011 and the parties were allowed to each file a supplemental brief. CP 637.

In addition to his supplemental brief, Mr. West filed a Declaration on June 6, in which he attempted to "clarify the scope of the issues that will need to be resolved in addition to the central issue of Executive Privilege." CP 661. Mr. West noted: "While the briefing has focused primarily on the primary issue of the existence of an executive privilege, after the issue of this exemption is resolved, and especially in the event that the broad claim of executive privilege is not sustained, secondary issues will remain as to the backup claims asserted by the State as their "fall back" position." CP 661.

After Mr. West had filed his supplemental brief, and the Governor had filed her supplemental brief, Ms. Pierce filed her second declaration. In Ms. Pierce's declaration, she explained that the Governor's office had overlooked hundreds of pages of records that had been withheld by the Governor from public records request responses to Luke Esser, Chairman of the Washington State Republican Party, on the basis of the Governor's assertion of executive privilege, and had neither produced nor disclosed the records to Mr. West. CP 664; see also footnote at CP 565. The requests made by Mr. Esser were dated late 2007 and early 2008. CP 663. For roughly three hundred of these pages, the Governor chose to waive her assertion of executive privilege, and the Governor's office produced those records to Mr. West on June 9. CP 64; CP 697; CP 701-997.

For other of the withheld records, the Governor's office chose not to produce them, but disclosed their existence in a second exemption log. CP 667-96. "Exemptions are being asserted as to 93 records, as outlined on the attached

exemption log. Of that total, executive privilege is being asserted as an exemption on 67 records, although only as to 15 records is executive privilege the only basis for an exemption." CP 664. There are 26 records for which the Governor was *not* asserting executive privilege (although presumably executive privilege was asserted for those records sometime in the past; otherwise they would not have been responsive to Mr. West's request).

This second exemption log groups the withheld documents into one category: "2008 Esser Public Record Requests documents." The exemptions asserted by Governor Gregoire include: RCW 42.56.250(2) (applications for public employment) (*see* CP 667-73; CP 691; CP 696); RCW 42.56.250(3) (personal information redacted for state employees) (*see* CP 669; CP 671); RCW 42.56.290 (controversy to which the agency is a party, work product) (*see* CP 672-74; CP 679-89; CP 692-95); RCW 42.56.280 or deliberative process (*see* CP 674-675; CP 677-78; CP 686; CP 688-90; CP 693-96); RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) (attorney-client privilege) (*see* CP 674; CP 679-84; CP 686-89; CP 691-95); and RCW 82.32.330(1)(c) (disclosure of tax information) (*see* CP 676).

As for the 26 records that were disclosed in the exemption log but for which the Governor did not claim executive privilege, the exemptions claimed include RCW 42.56.250(3) (personal information redacted for state employee); RCW 42.56.250(2) (applications for public employment); RCW 42.56.290 (work product); RCW 82.32.330(1)(c) (disclosure of tax information); RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) (attorney-client privilege); and RCW 42.56.280 (deliberative process) (*see* CP 669; CP 670; CP 672-74; CP 676; CP 679-88; and CP 690-92).

On June 17, there was a hearing before Judge Tabor. Mr. West presented argument as to executive privilege and the Public Records Act, and requested an order to show cause. Counsel for the Governor responded in opposition and requested that the motion for order to show cause be denied. The Trial Court stated that it did not find that Mr. West met his burden, and that therefore the State – the Governor – would prevail. The Trial Court dismissed Mr. West's action on the basis that executive privilege exists in Washington and that it is an exemption to the Public Records Act, and adopted the three-part test suggested by the Governor for assessing gubernatorial executive privilege. CP 998; 1007.

In dismissing Mr. West's case, the Trial Court did not reach the issue of whether the Governor had violated the Public Records Act by failing to produce the records for which the Governor was waiving the claim of executive privilege in a reasonable time, nor whether the Governor had violated the Public Records Act by failing to disclose the existence of the records for which the Governor was making a claim of executive privilege by providing Mr. West with an exemption log in a reasonable time, nor yet whether any of the other exemptions applied to the records for which the Governor was *not* asserting a claim of executive privilege.

Mr. West submitted a proposed order. CP 1001-02. The Governor submitted a proposed order, which the Court signed. CP 1003; CP 1004-09. The order signed by the Court contained, among other Conclusions of Law, "The only issue before the Court is whether the Governor may assert a gubernatorial executive privilege, grounded in the separation of powers under the Washington State Constitution, as an exemption under the PRA." Mr. West moved the Court

for reconsideration, which was denied. CP 1022. Mr. West timely appealed to the Supreme Court. CP 999-1002.

The Court denied intervention or consolidation with the EFF matter, stayed West's appeal, ruled in the EFF case that an executive privilege existed, and remanded this case back down to the Court of Appeals.

On November, 2014, Division II of the Court of appeals issued a published opinion overruling the precedent of Gronquist and affirming the trial court.

On November 18, 2014, an order denying reconsideration was entered.

West files this timely Petition for Review to the Washington State Supreme

Court.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The retroactive application of new rules of law to deprive a citizen employing what was intended to be a simple show cause procedure to obtain public records a cause of action and the existence of an executive privilege are issues of substantial public importance. As the Supreme Court of the United States has recognized, issues of retroactive application "are among the most difficult of those which have engaged the attention of courts, state and federal,..."

"[w]here a decision of this Court could produce substantial inequitable results if applied retroactively, there is ample basis in our cases for avoiding the 'injustice or hardship' by a holding of nonretroactivity." *Cipriano* v. *City of Houma, supra,* at 706, *Great Northern R. Co.* v. *Sunburst Oil & Refining Co.*, 287 U. S. 358, 364 (1932). See *Chicot County Drainage Dist.* v. *Baxter State Bank*, 308 U. S. 371 (1940). Cf. *Linkletter* v. *Walker*, 381 U. S. 618 (1965).

The question of whether the Show Cause procedure in the Public Records Act should be liberally interpreted to effectuate the remedial intent of the law, consistent with Gronquist v. Department of Corrections, or whether new rules of law inconsistent with previous decisions may be adopted to deprive a citizen seeking public records of a substantive right contrary to the decisions above are of substantial public interest.

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