RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 16, 2015, 3:25 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

E CRF
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 91105-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR WEST,

Petitioner,

٧.

CHRISTINE GREGOIRE, GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO WEST'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CHRISTINA BEUSCH Deputy Attorney General WSBA #18226 christinab@atg.wa.gov

ALAN D. COPSEY
Deputy Solicitor General
WSBA # 23305
alanc@atg.wa.gov
PO BOX 40100
Olympia, WA 98504-0100
(360) 753-6200
Office ID #91087

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals' Conclusion That Mr. West Abandoned Any PRA Claim That He Failed to Brief or Argue to the Trial Court Is Not in Conflict With Any Decision of This Court or the Court of Appeals, and Does Not Involve a Significant Question of Constitutional Law or an Issue of Substantial Public Importance

The trial court's Conclusion of Law 1 specifically stated that the "only issue before the Court is whether the Governor may assert a gubernatorial executive privilege, grounded in the separation of powers . . ., as an exemption to the PRA." CP at 1007. Mr. West did not assign error to this Conclusion of Law 1 as required by RAP 10.3(a)(4). See Appellant's Opening Brief, No. 86150-1 at 4. Mr. West had the opportunity before the trial court in two sets of briefing, three declarations, a motion for reconsideration, and oral arguments to refute the former Governor's evidence and arguments and present his case. He offered no facts to support overcoming the assertion of executive privilege, and none are in the record. Furthermore, he developed no arguments as to how the PRA allegedly had been violated, other than his argument that executive privilege is not an exemption to the PRA, which the trial court properly rejected. The show cause proceeding on June 17, 2011, was the hearing on the merits. At that hearing, consistent with his briefing, Mr. West, in

his own words, continued to define the issue as whether executive privilege should be recognized in the State of Washington. RP at 4-6. Mr. West's entire focus was on convincing the trial court that executive privilege does not exist. Now that *Freedom Foundation* has recognized executive privilege as an exemption to the PRA, no issue is left in this case for the Supreme Court to decide.

The Court of Appeals reached an unremarkable conclusion fully consistent with the jurisprudence of Washington appellate courts. Simply stated, a litigant who fails to brief or argue a claim to the trial court abandons it. West v. Gregoire, 336 P.3d at 114. See Cano-Garcia v. King County, 168 Wn. App. 223, 248, 277 P.3d 34, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1010 (2012) (claim abandoned where litigant fails to present argument or evidence in support); Rainier Nat'l Bank v. McCracken, 26 Wn. App. 498, 508, 615 P.2d 469 (1980), review denied, 95 Wn.2d 1005 (1981) (counterclaim abandoned where defendant did not present evidence in support). This principle is no less true in a PRA case. Courts are not required to entertain speculative theories of PRA liability based on bald claims and undeveloped arguments. West v. Thurston County, 168 Wn. App. 162, 186-87, 275 P.3d 1200 (2012) ("passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration"). Where a plaintiff has failed to pursue alleged PRA violations in the trial

court, he cannot repackage his theory of the case on appeal in the hope of obtaining yet another bite at the apple. *Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash. v. McCarthy*, 152 Wn. App. 720, 733-34,738, 218 P.3d 196 (2009) (review is limited to issues presented to the trial court).

The appellate courts have consistently applied the rules and procedures that generally govern civil cases to PRA cases. See, e.g., Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 105, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) (rules on intervention apply in PRA cases); Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702, 716-18, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) (civil rules govern discovery and court retains discretion to control discovery as it would in any other civil case); Cowles Publ'g Co. v. State Patrol, 109 Wn.2d 712, 715-16, 748 P.2d 597 (1988) (live testimony allowed even though PRA provides that case can be heard on affidavits). In addition to a show cause hearing, other civil litigation tools have been used to resolve disputes involving the PRA; such as summary judgment, motion to dismiss, and writ of mandamus. See, e.g., Newman v. King County, 133 Wn.2d 565, 569, 947 P.2d 712 (1997) (summary judgment); Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 98 Wn. App. 612, 614, 989 P.2d 1257 (1999), review denied, 141 Wn.2d 1004 (2000) (motion to dismiss); Seattle Times v. Serko, 170 Wn.2d 581, 588-89, 243 P.3d 919 (2010) (mandamus). There is nothing in the PRA that

overcomes the general principle in civil litigation that if a litigant does not present his claim to the trial court supported by arguments the claim will be considered abandoned.

Mr. West suggests that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Gronquist v. Dept. of Corr.*, 159 Wn. App. 576, 247 P.3d 436, *review denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1023 (2011). The contrary is, in fact, the case. In the first instance, the *Gronquist* court recognized that failure to argue an issue on appeal, even if there has been an assignment of error, is a waiver of the issue. *Id.* at 589 n.10. Here, Mr. West did not even assign error to the trial court's conclusion that the only issue before it was the existence of executive privilege as an exemption to the PRA.

Additionally, regarding whether other issues had been preserved, the *Gronquist* court remarked in a footnote that Gronquist "raised these arguments in his show cause motion, which the DOC acknowledged below." *Id.* at 589 n.11. In this case, the Court of Appeals assumed without finding that Mr. West raised other claims "in his initial pleadings," i.e. the initial complaint, but that he failed to present any argument in the show cause proceedings. *West v. Gregoire*, 336 P.3d at 113. Furthermore, in responding to Mr. West's arguments, the former Governor consistently and clearly has treated them as attempting to create a test case on the existence of executive privilege as a PRA exemption,

and Mr. West did nothing in the trial court that effectively added any additional issue for consideration. Unlike the Department of Corrections in *Gronquist*, the former Governor in this case never acknowledged that any claim, other than the existence of executive privilege, was asserted before the trial court. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with *Gronquist* or any other Washington appellate decision; therefore, Mr. West's petition for discretionary review should be denied.

The Court of Appeals' application of the basic rules of civil litigation to PRA cases does not raise a significant constitutional question or issue of substantial public importance. As discussed above, the appellate courts routinely have applied civil procedures and tools to PRA litigation, and application of the civil rules in this case is unremarkable. As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, the purpose of the PRA is not satisfied by allowing piecemeal litigation. West v. Gregoire, 336 P.3d at 114. The orderly administration of justice and the remedial purpose of the PRA are not served if litigants are permitted to raise new arguments after the case has been presented and the trial court is prepared to issue or has issued a ruling. The requirement that a litigant must brief and argue his claims to the trial court in order to preserve them is not novel, does not infringe upon any constitutional right, and is not a basis to grant discretionary review.

B. The Court of Appeals' Application of the Three-Part Executive Privilege Test to Mr. West's Claim Is Not in Conflict With Any Decision of This Court or the Court of Appeals, and Does Not Involve a Significant Question of Constitutional Law or an Issue of Substantial Public Importance

The requirement of demonstrating a "particularized need" to overcome a claim of executive privilege is integral to the executive privilege analysis and part of the well-settled jurisprudence on the privilege. Freedom Found., 178 Wn.2d at 705. That requirement was fully briefed by both parties before the trial court. CP at 652-55, 1058-61. Mr. West, like Freedom Foundation in its case, chose not to identify any need, instead advancing the argument that there simply is no privilege or, if there is a privilege, the test does not require a showing of need. See Freedom Found., 178 Wn.2d at 705. Having chosen that strategy and lost, Mr. West now is trying to recast the theory of his case to perpetuate further litigation.

The former Governor met her burden under *Freedom Foundation* for withholding records under executive privilege. The privilege applies (1) where the communications are authored, solicited, or received by the governor or her aides responsible for formulating policy advice, and (2) the communications occur for the purpose of informing policy choices. *Freedom Found.*, 178 Wn.2d at 703-04. If the governor provides a privilege log identifying the author, recipient, and general subject matter,

"the courts must treat the communications as presumptively privileged." Freedom Found., 178 Wn.2d at 704-705. "Respect for a coordinate branch of government . . . requires . . . [courts] to provide some deference to a governor's decision that material falls within the ambit of executive privilege." Id. at 704. The presumption may be overcome only if the requester makes a showing of particularized need for the materials; otherwise, the court shall "abstain from examining material the governor determined is privileged . . . for judicial examination necessarily intrudes into the executive branch's need for confidentiality" and is inconsistent with the constitutional principle of separation of powers. Id. at 705-06.

Using the same analysis that the *Freedom Foundation* court ultimately applied, the trial court rejected Mr. West's claim. CP at 1007-08. The former Governor's General Counsel, Narda Pierce, engaged in the same review process and preparation of privilege logs in this case that was approved by the Supreme Court in *Freedom Found.*, 178 Wn.2d at 691, 705-06. Based on the uncontroverted declarations of Ms. Pierce and the two privilege logs provided to Mr. West and the court, the former Governor met her burden in asserting executive privilege. CP at 607, 662, 575, 667. Ms. Pierce personally reviewed each responsive record to make determinations and recommendations to the former Governor on whether any record or portion of a record was exempt under the PRA. CP at 566,

607, 608-09, 664-65. The assertion of executive privilege can depend on circumstances that might not be readily apparent from the record and in certain instances were not known to Ms. Pierce. CP at 609-10, 664-65. Consequently, she consulted with the former Governor's policy advisors who were knowledgeable about the issues discussed in the records in order to formulate her recommendations. CP at 609-10, 664-65. As a result of Ms. Pierce's review, exemption logs were prepared that identified each document withheld or redacted by page number, date, author, recipient, description of the substance of record, and an explanation of the exemption. CP at 566, 575, 610, 664-65, 667. Ms. Pierce also prepared a letter to Mr. West explaining in further detail the nature and application of executive privilege. CP at 567, 603, 610. Additionally, it should be noted that Governor Gregoire went beyond what is required under the PRA and waived the privilege for numerous documents and produced them to Mr. West. CP at 609-10, 664-65, 47-519, 701-997. Mr. West received more than what he was entitled to under the law.

Mr. West suggests that the Court of Appeals decision in this case is at odds with a prior unpublished decision in *West v. Gregoire*, noted at 170 Wn. App. 1029 (2012). In the prior case, the trial court assumed, without deciding, that executive privilege exists as an exemption to the PRA but concluded that the document in question was not a "gubernatorial"

communication" eligible for the privilege. The only issue on appeal was the penalty calculation. Mr. West failed in that prior litigation to have a court expressly decide the legal issue of whether executive privilege exists as an exemption to the PRA. That failure may explain why, for his second round of litigation, he chose to request all records for which the privilege was asserted for a certain time period and chose not to make arguments as to individual records or his need for them. In this way, he might increase the likelihood that a court would address the underlying legal question.

There is no conflict or inconsistency between what Mr. West has styled as West v. Gregoire (I) and West v. Gregoire (II). Nor does the prior case have a preclusive effect on the latter case through the principles of collateral estoppel or res judicata. The trial court in the latter case simply reached the legal issue that the prior case avoided. Mr. West had repeated opportunities to offer facts and make arguments related to a particularized need for the records at issue in this case, but he failed to do so. Rather, he relied on the single legal theory that there is no gubernatorial executive privilege exemption under Washington's PRA—a theory that was ultimately rejected by this Court in Freedom Foundation. There is no basis to grant discretionary review, because there is no conflict of appellate opinions.

Finally, Mr. West seems to suggest that, because the trial court was faced with an issue of first impression, the application of the court's legal conclusion to his case raises a significant constitutional question or issue of substantial public importance. It does neither. The trial court did nothing more than what the Supreme Court did in *Freedom Foundation*. It interpreted and applied the law to the facts and arguments presented. And even if the trial court was faced with an issue of first impression, this Court has resolved that issue for the trial courts in Washington. Mr. West has not demonstrated any basis for discretionary review by this Court.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny discretionary review.